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Praise for Political Assassinations and Attempts in US History

“J. Michael Martinez’s new book about political assassins is a must read and is a book which I heartedly recommend. His book adds a crucial historical dimension to our understanding of the motives which have driven assassins and would-be assassins in US history.”

—Mel Ayton, author of Hunting The President: Threats, Plots and Assassination Attempts - From FDR to Obama

“In J. Michael Martinez’s new book Political Assassinations and Attempts in US History, he does a brilliant job of putting US presidential assassinations and attempts under a microscope for an insightful and sobering view of US history.”

—Greg Stebben, author of White House Confidential

“In this study of American political assassinations, J. Michael Martinez not only takes us through what happened in the past, but also delves into the minds and motivations of the assassins to help as we look into the future. Can we learn from the patterns and predict the next assassination? Maybe, maybe not, but this fascinating book provides a deeper understanding into the warning signs which, unfortunately, may be all too plentiful in today’s political climate.”

—Mike Farris, author of A Death in the Islands: The Unwritten Law and the Last Trial of Clarence Darrow

“Original and evocative, this book examines within the historical context the nature of assassinations perpetrated against twenty-five American political figures. Grappling with this perplexing issue, Martinez probes the jagged edge of human psychology. He offers a provocative explanation of the underlying motives behind political assassinations, assigning them to five categories. This theoretical construct combines the complexity and the contingence of violence in America.”

—Orville Vernon Burton, professor, Clemson University and author The Age of Lincoln

“In Political Assassinations and Attempts in US History, Martinez thoughtfully examines political assassinations in America to understand not just the historically important question of what happened, but, perhaps more importantly, the intriguing one of why individuals resorted to violence against prominent political figures. In quest of their motivations, Martinez distributes the twenty-five assassins he has identified into five categories that range from rational beings to crazy ones to “others.” Why political assassinations seem to be increasing since the nineteenth century is an obvious matter of great concern to lovers of liberty in a republic solidly based on the rule of law—and most especially so in times when partisan political discourse is coarser, participants more passionate, and self-governed individuals seemingly rarer.”

—William D. Richardson, distinguished professor emeritus, University of South Dakota, and author of Democracy, Bureaucracy, and Character: Founding Thought

“In Political Assassinations and Attempts in US History, J. Michael Martinez provides an incisive description and analysis of a problem that has plagued nations and communities. Based on twenty-five instances of violence against elected officials and public figures in the United States, the book contributes new insight to long-standing issue.”

—Jeffrey L. Brudney, PhD, Betty and Dan Cameron family distinguished professor of innovation in the nonprofit sector, University of North Carolina Wilmington

“The USA is a uniquely and hugely violent place as this book demonstrates. This is so because it was birthed in genocide against Native Americans and in the enslavement of black Africans. Assassination, which is a political murder, has been used against government figures and by the government itself. The killing of President John Fitzgerald Kennedy altered world history in as much as he set his course against the Cold War. Likewise, the murder of Malcolm X set back the struggle for black freedom. The USA has been at war almost continually since I was born in 1942. As the leader of the student nonviolent coordinating committee, H. Rap Brown, famously observed: ‘violence is as American as apple pie.’”

—Attorney Michael Steven Smith, co-host, Law and Disorder Radio and author of The Assassination of Che Guevara
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Dream on, dream on, of bloody deeds and death.

—William Shakespeare, King Richard III, Act V, Scene 3
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PREFACE AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

“Oh, my God, they’ve shot Bobby Kennedy!”

My mother literally gasped, dropping the cigarette from her lips as she drove me to day care early one morning in June 1968. I remember giggling from the back seat as I watched her hastily pull the car to the shoulder of the road. Safely parked, she bent and swept ashes from her lap before the embers could burn her thighs. I could not stop laughing at her predicament. When she turned and glanced at me, however, I saw a look of anguish and horror plastered on her face. Although she did not utter a reproachful word, I fell silent. That look told me she was in no mood to trifle with a silly child.

This long-ago incident occurred before 24/7 news programs existed. Senator Robert F. Kennedy had been shot in the early morning hours of June 5, just after midnight on the West Coast (around 3:00 a.m. in South Carolina, where we lived at the time), and so word of the assault had not yet filtered into the hinterlands. Unaware of the tumultuous events in California hours earlier, Mom followed our usual routine that day. She turned on the car radio as we drove along the highway. Within minutes, the announcer interrupted the music to report on the latest tragedy. It was the first we had heard of it.

At five years of age, I wasn’t altogether sure who Bobby Kennedy was, but the news of his shooting impressed me mightily. My mother appeared unflappable to me in those days. It must have been a major event to trigger such a dramatic reaction from her. I recall walking around the day-care center on that June 5, and whenever I encountered an adult, I would loudly exclaim, mimicking my mother’s reaction, “Oh, my God, they’ve shot Bobby Kennedy!” I could not understand why the adults laughed as I announced the terrible news. With the passing years, I came to understand that the message did not elicit laughter; it was the earnestness of a little wide-eyed messenger blurting out such big news. To this day, news of the Bobby Kennedy shooting remains my first vivid memory of an event that occurred outside my immediate family.

It would be too melodramatic, not to mention factually inaccurate, to say that my fascination with the subject of political assassinations was born on the day that Bobby Kennedy was shot down. Instead, the impetus for this book, as for all of my books, began with a simple question: Why? Why would someone resort to violence aimed at a public figure? What is to be gained, especially since the assassin more often than not is caught and punished with prolonged imprisonment and sometimes execution? It is tempting to say, “Well, all these assassins and would-be assassins are crazy, and there is no telling what a lunatic will do.” Yes, it is tempting to reach such a knee-jerk conclusion but, as these pages hopefully make clear, the story is not quite so conceptually or factually simple.

In researching this book, I chose to focus on twenty-five assassinations and attempted assassinations of American political figures with that simple question in mind: Why? Why did these men and women act on their violent impulses? As I worked on this book, I wondered whether I should focus primarily on the political figures who were assaulted or the persons who assaulted them. In the end, I focused on both, but the organizing principle—assessing the motives of killers and would-be killers according to a five-tiered typology—required judgments about the probable motives of the men and women who believed that violent acts were necessary.

As I have learned repeatedly throughout my writing career, no one produces a book alone. I was assisted along the way by many helpful souls. First and foremost, I thank Niels Aaboe, formerly executive editor at Skyhorse Publishing, who worked with me on two books at Skyhorse and one at Rowman & Littlefield. Niels was patient and encouraging through every step of the laborious publication process. To my great sorrow, he left Skyhorse shortly before I completed the manuscript. I was fortunate that Veronica (Ronnie) Alvarado stepped in to see the project through to its culmination.

A good friend, the very talented Gabriel Botet, assisted me in locating many of the photographs included in the book. When the images were unavailable in a suitable resolution, Gabriel was instrumental in manipulating the pixels and performing some sort of magic that enhanced their quality. I can never repay his many kindnesses.

I was fortunate to receive assistance from exceptional librarians and archivists, including (in alphabetical order): Michal Gorlin Becker, director of Operations, the Shapell Manuscript Foundation; Germain J. Bienvenu, PhD, Special Collections, Public Services, Louisiana State University Libraries; Charlene Bonnette, MLIS, CA, head preservation librarian, Louisiana Collection, State Library of Louisiana; Tyler Bouyér, customer service associate, Getty Images; William M. Cross, JD, MSLS, director, Copyright & Digital Scholarship Center, North Carolina State University Libraries; Danielle Grundel, archivist technician, Idaho State Archives, Division of the Idaho State Historical Society; and Erica Varela of the Los Angeles Times. I also relied on assistance form the staff of the Horace W. Sturgis Library at Kennesaw State University (KSU). These kind folks provided guidance about the interlibrary loan process. KSU has been my academic home since 1998, and Sturgis library personnel have assisted me on many previous books.

I cannot, of course, forget family and friends who helped me along the journey. I now have nine grandchildren—Brianna Marie Carter; Aswad Elisha “Ellie” Woodson; Christopher Kainan Carter; Skylar Renee Kula; Emma Kay Lynne Woodson; Nero Blake Carter; Arya Rayne Carter; Rory Daulton; and Dawson Daulton—and they are always a delight and an inspiration. Ellie and Emma live with me, and their nonstop antics frequently amuse (and occasionally annoy) me when I step away from my research and writing.

Thanks also to loved ones who helped ease the load, including Keith W. Smith, a valued friend of more than thirty years; Chuck Redmon, another treasured friend of many years; Shirley Hardrick, housekeeper and babysitter extraordinaire; and Dr. William D. Richardson, my mentor and dissertation director at Georgia State University, who recently retired as the Odeen-Swanson Distinguished Professor of Political Science, chair of the Department of Political Science, and director of the W. O. Farber Center for Civic Leadership at the University of South Dakota. Dr. Richardson also was kind enough to review the manuscript and provide a jacket blurb.

I also must extend heartfelt appreciation to family members who are fellow writers: Chris Mead (cousin), Loren B. Mead (uncle), Walter Russell Mead (cousin), Robert Sidney Mellette (cousin), William W. Mellette (uncle), and Jim Wise (cousin). They have inspired me in myriad ways throughout the years.

Needless to say (but I will say it, anyway) any errors or omissions in fact or interpretation are my fault, and mine alone.

Monroe, Georgia

March 2017


INTRODUCTION

On August 9, 2016, when Republican presidential nominee (and later 45th president of the United States) Donald J. Trump spoke at a political rally in Wilmington, North Carolina, he alluded to the darker side of American politics, namely political assassinations. Speaking of former secretary of state Hillary Clinton, his Democratic rival, Trump said, “Hillary wants to abolish—essentially abolish the Second Amendment. By the way, if she gets to pick, if she gets to pick her judges, nothing you can do, folks. Although the Second Amendment people, maybe there is, I don’t know.” Trump later claimed that his off-the-cuff remark was not serious. His campaign surrogates offered a slightly different interpretation, arguing that he was serious, but not about assassination. He was asking Second Amendment supporters to mobilize their political resources in favor of a Republican candidate so that Clinton could not appoint Supreme Court justices who would approve gun control measures limiting the right to bear arms.1

Skeptics believe, however, that Trump was suggesting, albeit elliptically, that his supporters assassinate either Secretary Clinton or her Supreme Court nominees. Trump’s offhand musing was reminiscent of English King Henry II’s reputed comment about Thomas Becket, “Who will rid me of this troublesome priest,” or words to that effect. Not long after the king posed his question aloud, four knights hacked Becket to death inside Canterbury Cathedral. Trump could claim, just as Henry II did, that his comments were not intended as a call to action, but merely a reflection of his exasperation at disagreements with a bitter rival. Apologists suggest that a speaker bears no responsibility for how listeners construe rhetorical questions. The only person responsible for assassinating, or attempting to assassinate, another person is the perpetrator who acts violently with the intent to cause harm.

Whether he meant to or not, Trump was tapping into a potent tradition in American politics. Throughout its storied history, the United States has earned a reputation as a violent society. Denizens of other nations sometimes look upon Americans as reckless cowboys, owing to a “Wild West,” cavalier attitude about violence, especially episodes involving guns. As part of this less-than-hallowed tradition, public figures have fallen prey to many an assassin’s bullet. In an effort to understand the ramifications of these incidents, this book examines the history of violence perpetrated against American political figures (as opposed to pogroms and deliberate acts of violence undertaken by political figures against the masses).

Before 1835, when house painter Richard Lawrence fired two pistols at President Andrew Jackson, political assassination was not a part of the American experience. Violence occurred frequently during the early history of the republic—and dueling was still practiced in some states—but deliberate attempts to snuff out the life of a political leader were virtually unknown. With the death of the founding generation and the tremendous growth of the US population during the 1830s, times and sensibilities changed. It was a turbulent era. The Jackson administration democratized the electorate, empowering the lower classes to participate in political affairs as never before. Immigration exploded as numerous peoples from far-off lands flooded into the New World. The rise of the abolitionist movement called attention to the divisive slavery issue, thereby exposing a rift between North and South that would grow in coming decades. The prevalence of violence as a potential solution to a political problem in American history dates from this time.

Of course, violence has been employed to achieve political objectives throughout human history; assassinations and assassination attempts are not unique to the United States. Antiquity is filled with examples of political murders. When Julius Caesar was felled by assassins in 44 BCE, political murders were already a longstanding tradition. This book, however, focuses on assassinations (and attempts) in the American republic.

Nine American presidents—Andrew Jackson in 1835, Abraham Lincoln in 1865, James A. Garfield in 1881, William McKinley in 1901, Harry S. Truman in 1950, John F. Kennedy in 1963, Richard Nixon in 1974, Gerald Ford twice in 1975, and Ronald Reagan in 1981—have been the targets of assassins. (Even this statement is a bit inaccurate because most, if not all, presidents and presidential candidates have received messages containing threats. The focus here is on serious threats where the person acted on the impulse to kill or maim.) President-elect Franklin D. Roosevelt was also a target shortly before he was sworn into office in 1933. Moreover, three presidential candidates—Theodore Roosevelt in 1912, Robert F. Kennedy in 1968, and George Wallace in 1972—were shot by assailants. Roosevelt and Wallace survived, but Robert Kennedy did not. In addition to presidents and candidates for the presidency, as of this writing, eight governors, seven US senators, nine US House members, eleven mayors, seventeen state legislators, and eleven judges have been victims of political violence. No other nation with a population of over fifty million people has witnessed as many political assassinations or attempts.

The etymology of the word “assassination” also antedates the American experience. Its origin is uncertain, but some historians believe that it derives from the word [image: image]ashshāshīyīn, which shares the same route as “hashish.” The assassins were a group of Persian killers working in Iran from the eighth to the fourteenth centuries. Whether these killers acted under the influence of hashish remains a point of contention among scholars. In any case, by the time William Shakespeare wrote Macbeth early in the seventeenth century, “assassination” referred to political murder. In Act I, Scene 7, of the famous play, Macbeth remarks, “If it were done when ’tis done, then ’twere well/ It were done quickly. If the assassination/ Could trammel up the consequence, and catch/ With his surcease success; that but this blow/ Might be the be-all and the end-all here, But here, upon this bank and shoal of time,/ We’d jump the life to come.”

In the twenty-first century, an “assassin” is anyone who kills a prominent political figure. By extension, a would-be assassin is anyone who attempts to kill a prominent political figure and fails. The term “political figure” need not refer to an elected official, although often that is the case. A political figure can be someone who influences public policy even if he or she does not hold elective office. Joseph Smith, founder of the Mormon Church, never held office, but he influenced the course of the nineteenth-century politics. Malcolm X and Martin Luther King, Jr., never stood for election, but they were enormously influential civil rights leaders during the twentieth century. These men are included because of their connection to, and influence on, the political process. Such personages can be distinguished from the attempted murder of artist Andy Warhol and the shooting of rock musician John Lennon. Although both Warhol and Lennon occupied a public space on the margins of the political process, they were primarily creative artists and were not famous and influential owing to their politics. Therefore, they are not included in the book.

Naturally, these violent episodes trigger a series of important questions. First, why has the United States—a country constructed on a bedrock of the rule of law and firmly committed to due process—been so susceptible to political violence? Attacks on public figures were rare in colonial America. When violence occurred, it usually resulted from riots by mobs or from duels, such as the infamous contest between Alexander Hamilton and Aaron Burr in 1804.

The rarity of political violence early in the history of the republic raises several additional questions. Why did violence against political figures increase during the nineteenth century? Did the nation’s culture or politics change and, if so, how? Did political violence increase during the twentieth century and, if so, why? What, if anything, can be done to reduce or eliminate such attacks? This book addresses these questions by examining twenty-five instances of violence against elected officials and public figures in American history.

A book on political assassinations can be organized in several ways. The most obvious method is to discuss the violent episodes chronologically. The chronological approach has the advantage of simplicity, and it can be useful in understanding how violence aimed at public figures changes over time. By examining assaults in historical context, the author can illustrate the evolving sensibilities of assailants, their targets, and the American people. Unfortunately, while such an approach can provide a broad overview of the social, cultural, historical, political, and religious conditions of the era—a macroscopic view—it generally does not provide a glimpse into the specific reasons that the assailants felt compelled to act—a microscopic view. The chronological approach can answer what happened, but not necessarily why it happened. To understand the “why,” something else is required.

Accordingly, Political Assassinations and Attempts in US History moves beyond the chronological approach and relies on a typology of assassins designed to explicate motives. This classification system is a modification of the structure James W. Clarke employed in his 1982 book American Assassins: The Darker Side of Politics.2 Assassins are divided into five categories according to their intentions. The individuals and groups within each category possess common characteristics that explain, to some extent, why they acted as they did. Clarke argued that although discussing historical context is helpful, delving into motives is crucial to understanding why assailants act against political figures. His theoretical construct is especially insightful in exploring what the individual assailants hoped to accomplish.

Philosophers sometimes refer to an exploration of motives as the quest to understand “intentionality.” Many thinkers working within the Western intellectual tradition have contended that the central feature of “personhood” is the idea that individuals possess free will and make choices based on their will. The French philosopher and mathematician René Descartes placed intentionality at the heart of his philosophy when he famously stated that “I think therefore I am.” The only reality I know for certain is my own existence and intentions.

Intentionality is the key feature in the Anglo-American system of jurisprudence. Criminal law is predicated on the concept that persons who violate the laws of the nation-state must be punished for their transgressions. Yet a prohibited act can only be deemed a “transgression” if the person who acted knew or should have known that the act was a violation of the law. Children, persons acting on a mistake of fact, and the mentally ill are not punished if they are unable to form or possess the requisite bad intent.

Anyone familiar with the concept of mens rea (a guilty mind) in criminal law will caution that understanding intentions is at best an uncertain enterprise. Criminologists examine indicia of intent, but no one claims to understand human motivations with any reasonable degree of certainty. The point is well taken. Moreover, discriminating readers may disagree with the classification of a particular person in one category versus another. Nonetheless, despite the potential hazards inherent in delving into the psychology of the human mind, attempting to discern motives can be useful in understanding would-be assassins.

Of the five categories of intentionality employed in this book, Type 1 is a category reserved for rational actors who understand the political purpose of killing a public figure. These types of actors are zealots who seek to advance a political cause by eliminating a prominent individual who stands in their way. Cause and effect are important for a Type 1 assassin. Perhaps the public figure is the architect, or perceived architect, of a policy that negatively affects the actor. In other cases, the assassin’s target is a symbol of a distasteful regime and, therefore, removing the symbol is tantamount to a symbolic victory. While these types of actors may be neurotic or emotionally disturbed, they first and foremost are driven by a rational desire to remove a troublesome public figure. Mentally healthy individuals may question whether any would-be assassin is genuinely “rational,” but the desire to kill an offender is rational in the sense that the actor understands the nature of the act—that is, distinguishes between right and wrong as well as fact and fantasy—and works to achieve a political goal.

A Type 2 assassin, by contrast with a Type 1 actor, is motivated by an egocentric need for recognition. Although this type of actor is not necessarily cognitively impaired or delusional, he or she is less interested in achieving a political goal than a Type 1 assassin is. As a person with low self-esteem, a Type 2 actor seeks to compensate for a lack of social status, and the most efficient way to garner attention is by killing a high-status person. A nobody becomes a somebody when the nobody kills a somebody. From that point on, whenever historians speak of Person X, they invariably must speak of Person Y. The assassin has then affected public policy, but the political repercussions are secondary considerations. So while changing public policy is crucial for a Type 1 actor, it is but an ancillary outcome for a Type 2 personality.

The Type 3 actor is far more isolated and emotionally disturbed than a Type 1 or Type 2 actor. In modern parlance, a Type 3 individual is a sociopath, feeling no compunction about taking the life of another human being. A Type 1 or Type 2 actor understands that assassination will cause pain to the person who is killed and his or her family, but believes that the benefits outweigh the costs. A Type 3 actor is incapable of empathizing with the target. This kind of killer believes that life is so meaningless and devoid of purpose that the death of another human being carries no moral consequences. An example of this type is a killer for hire who accepts payment to assassinate a public official. He or she is driven only by the desire to earn a fee. Another example is a person who believes that a public official personifies a hated segment of society and therefore seeks to remove the official. In short, a Type 3 actor perceives reality accurately, but he or she has no capacity to respond emotionally.

A Type 4 actor is essentially what a layperson would call “crazy.” This type of would-be assassin suffers from extreme emotional or cognitive distortion. In some cases, the individual suffers from hallucinations and has only a tenuous hold on reality. When questioned, a Type 4 actor often explains that he or she heard voices inside his or her head telling him or her to act. He or she acts against a prominent public figure because he or she believes that the figure is somehow responsible for all manner of real or imagined maladies. Like a Type 3 assailant, a Type 4 personality is isolated from friends or family, or at best enjoys strained social relationships. The difficulty with anticipating the actions of a Type 4 offender is that this person acts based on an irrational motive, which means that it is almost impossible to predict his or her actions beforehand. Although neighbors and coworkers may sense that the person is maladjusted and ideally should receive mental health treatment, the lack of an effective psychological or psychiatric intervention does not necessarily mean that the person will harm himself or others.

Finally, Type 5 is reserved for “miscellaneous” or “other” motives. In other words, the person or persons acted for a variety of motives, some of which are unknown or unknowable. When a lynch mob killed Joseph Smith in 1844, most members of the mob were incensed at the beliefs and behaviors of the Mormon leadership. Given the psychology of mob behavior, however, it is impossible to identify the motives of the individuals who participated in the murder. Some assassins, such as Carl Weiss, the man who shot Louisiana politician Huey P. Long, act on inscrutable motives. Long was a charismatic, larger-than-life political figure. It would be easy and convenient to assume that Weiss opposed Long’s policies and therefore, in keeping with a Type 1 actor, sought to eliminate the object of his wrath to accomplish a political purpose. Yet the historical record suggests that Weiss was not an outspoken critic of the Long administration. Prior to the time that he shot Long in 1935, Weiss appeared to be happily married with a well-adjusted family life. He was a physician and apparently well respected. Because he did not evince the attributes typically associated with assassins, his motives are difficult to fathom. Perhaps Weiss was a Type 1 killer, harboring enormous animosity against Huey Long’s political agenda. Perhaps Weiss was sliding into the type of madness associated with a Type 4 personality. The available evidence does not provide a definitive conclusion. In these types of cases, the best that can be said is that the would-be assassin acted for reasons that may never be understood.

In the pages that follow, readers will discover a variety of individuals and motives. The common link among all of them is that they believed violence was the answer to a perplexing problem. To make sense of the complex individuals and their crimes, the book is organized chronologically according to the type of assassin. Thus, Type 1 assassins are discussed from the earliest in time to the latest. Similarly, Type 2, Type 3, Type 4, and Type 5 assassins are discussed using the same format. The earliest case covered here dates from 1835, when Richard Lawrence (Type 4) attacked Andrew Jackson, while the latest episode occurred when Jared Lee Loughner (Type 4) shot Arizona Congresswoman Gabrielle Giffords in 2011. Regrettably, given the long tradition of political violence in the United States, other cases may occur in the years to come.


PART I

TYPE 1 ACTORS


Chapter 1

“SIC SEMPER TYRANNIS”: ABRAHAM LINCOLN (1865)

One of the most infamous assassinations in American history occurred on April 14, 1865, when the acclaimed stage actor John Wilkes Booth shot President Abraham Lincoln with a .44-caliber Deringer pistol while the president watched a play at Ford’s Theatre in Washington, DC. Booth escaped through a back door moments after horrified theatregoers witnessed the assassin leap from a balcony and land on the stage. Unconscious and mortally wounded, Lincoln slumped in his chair, never to look on the world again. When it was clear that the wounded president would not survive a journey to the White House, doctors directed that his body be carried out of the theatre so the great man would not expire on the floor of the presidential box. The following morning at 7:22, the president died. Already popular for guiding the nation through its darkest hours, the martyred Lincoln ascended into the pantheon of American heroes, forever after memorialized as a man of granite, an icon for the ages.3

Nothing in Lincoln’s early life or career suggested that one day he would be regarded as a giant figure in American history. In a campaign biography, he characterized his humble origins as the “short and simple annals of the poor.” When he first considered a run for the presidency, the coarse, homely, undereducated prairie lawyer from Illinois was a dark horse candidate in a field of stellar thoroughbreds, including New York Senator William H. Seward and former Ohio Governor Salmon P. Chase. Having served but a single term in the US House of Representatives and eight years in the state legislature, Lincoln appeared ill-suited for high office.4

Yet appearances can be deceiving. Despite his lack of formal education and his slim resume, Lincoln had developed a remarkably nuanced view of slavery, the most important, and contentious, issue of the day. Navigating between the abolitionists who sought to emancipate slaves immediately and apologists for the peculiar institution who wished to preserve the status quo, Lincoln argued that the Constitution protected slavery where it already existed, but the federal government could prevent its spread into the territories. He was on record expressing his private distaste for the institution, but he recognized that an elected official must follow constitutional requirements and statutory dictates despite his personal predilections.

Lincoln came to national attention when he unsuccessfully ran for a US Senate seat against the prominent Illinois politician Stephen A. Douglas, the incumbent senator, in 1858. In a series of well-publicized debates, the two men grappled over slavery and its effect on the nation. Douglas was by far the better known of the two candidates, but Lincoln held his own in the debates and emerged as a promising national political figure. Although Lincoln lost the battle for the Senate, he arguably won the war for public attention. He used his new-found prominence to position himself as a viable alternative to Republican presidential hopefuls who had amassed too many political opponents to capture the party’s nomination in 1860. It was a brilliant strategy. Lincoln became a compromise candidate for the Republican presidential nomination when the bigger names failed to secure the requisite votes at the party convention.5

He was elected to the nation’s highest office in 1860, at precisely the moment when the Union was fracturing. Southern state leaders had spent decades, they believed, ground under the boot heels of an oppressive federal government. Time and again Southerners had threatened to secede from the Union rather than submit to federal limitations on the institution of slavery. As early as the 1830s, when President Andrew Jackson threatened to use force against South Carolina during the Nullification Crisis, the precarious state of the Union had caused no small amount of consternation among leaders on both sides of the Mason-Dixon line.6

The incoming president initially underestimated the nature and extent of secession threats. National lawmakers—notably Lincoln’s political hero, Henry Clay—had cobbled together compromises to forestall disunion for decades, and Lincoln hoped that another accommodation could be reached. Despite last-minute wrangling among several influential political leaders, a compromise was not in the offing. Lincoln nonetheless was an optimist; he believed that Southern men would come to their senses if he could assuage their fears about an obdurate federal government interfering with state rights. In his inaugural address, the president assured hostile factions that “In your hands, my dissatisfied fellow-countrymen, and not in mine, is the momentous issue of civil war. The Government will not assail you. You can have no conflict without being yourselves the aggressors”7

Alas, despite Lincoln’s eloquent plea for sectional rapprochement, the better angels of our nature could not be found. Thirty-nine days into the Lincoln administration, the rebels in Charleston, South Carolina, fired on Fort Sumter, a federal military installation. War had descended on the nation. No one knew that it would become a bloody, internecine affair that would claim the lives of more than 2 percent of the population, but it was clear that history had changed forever. Lincoln reluctantly issued a call for volunteers to put down the rebellion by force. Long-threatened civil war had become a reality.8

And so Abraham Lincoln became a wartime president, overseeing four arduous years of bloodshed, deprivation, and discord. As with so much in his life and career, he grew into his job. He had almost no military experience save for a few months in 1832 when he served in the Illinois state militia during the Black Hawk War, and yet Lincoln educated himself on strategy and tactics. When he could not find a suitable commander to claim consistent battlefield victories, he stepped into the breach as much as he could before he tapped Ulysses S. Grant to serve as general in chief late in the war. Lincoln was not a commander in the field, but he knew the kind of general officer that he needed. He used his new-found knowledge to help him find the right man at the right time.9

Essentially a moderate, cautious politician when the war began, Lincoln evolved over time. He resisted pressure from abolitionists as well as some Radical Republicans in Congress to emancipate the slaves, fearing that he would alienate Border State representatives if he moved too quickly or outpaced Northern public opinion on slavery. When he recognized the advantages of issuing an emancipation proclamation as a wartime measure, Lincoln decreed that slaves in the rebellious states were free as of January 1, 1863. It was not the wholesale assault on the peculiar institution that the Radicals had desired, but Lincoln went beyond his predecessors in issuing his proclamation. Later, he lobbied to enact a constitutional amendment to outlaw slavery throughout the nation. The states ratified the amendment in December 1865, eight months after Lincoln’s assassination.10

When he learned that Confederate General Robert E. Lee had surrendered his army near Appomattox Courthouse, Virginia, on April 9, 1865, Lincoln was elated. Rebel armies still marched in the field, but the president believed that the rebellion would soon end. Despite the hardships he and the nation had endured, in April 1865 Lincoln believed that better days were ahead.11
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1.1   By 1865, Abraham Lincoln had aged markedly after four years of civil war. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

As the war wound to a conclusion and the prospects for national unity improved, a group of conspirators plotted to kidnap or kill the president. John Wilkes Booth, a celebrated actor from a prominent family of actors, served as the leader of the cabal. Booth was the ninth of ten children born to Junius Brutus Booth, an English actor known for his vivid portrayals of Shakespearean characters.

John Wilkes grew to adulthood with little structure or discipline in his life. He was fourteen years old when his father died in 1852. Three years later, he followed in his father’s footsteps by becoming an actor. His elder brother, Edwin, was a prominent actor in his own right, which led to a not-so-good-natured sibling rivalry. Another brother, Junius Brutus Booth, Jr., was also a well-known thespian, but he was seventeen years older than John Wilkes and therefore not a serious competitor.12

By all accounts, the handsome, charismatic Booth was a talented if somewhat undisciplined actor. His physical attractiveness and hail-fellow-well-met bonhomie made him a popular public figure as well as “a star of the first magnitude.” President Lincoln saw John Wilkes Booth perform in a play, The Marble Heart, on November 9, 1863. Booth’s kindness and generosity to friends and strangers alike became well-known, presenting a stark contrast to the portrait of a crazed radical that became the standard narrative following the Lincoln assassination.13

If John Wilkes Booth was such a fun-loving, kind, gregarious friend to all, his actions in the eighteen months leading up to the assassination appear inexplicable—until they are placed in the context of the times. Washington, DC, was for all intents and purposes a Southern city. Loose talk circulated throughout the capital. Shady characters engaged in talk of conspiracies, but most dastardly deeds only consisted of the empty threats and broken promises uttered by disgruntled Southern sympathizers who developed bold plans but almost never followed through. It was clear, however, that Southerners loathed Abraham Lincoln, referring to him as a tyrant who desired nothing so much as the subjugation of the South and the destruction of her cherished traditions. Booth revered the Southern Confederacy and worried that the Union might prevail, destroying the Southern way of life. Exposed to the vitriol espoused by his colleagues as well as in numerous pro-Southern newspaper editorials, Booth came to hate the man in the White House who was pushing for the rebels’ capitulation.14

As Southern fortunes deteriorated throughout 1864, Booth resolved to act in defense of his beloved Confederacy. He had never served in the Confederate Army, but he was anxious to serve the cause. With the hour growing late, Booth recognized that desperate times call for desperate measures. In October 1864, he traveled to Montréal, a haven for Confederate spies and agents provocateurs, perhaps to meet with representatives of the Confederate government, although no conclusive link has ever been demonstrated. Whether he acted in concert with Confederate agents or on his own initiative, Booth hatched a plan to kidnap the president of the United States and hold him for ransom.
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1.2   The dashing John Wilkes Booth, a Southern sympathizer and prominent actor, loathed Abraham Lincoln, and resolved to see the president kidnapped or killed. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

The original plan was to abduct the president while Lincoln visited the Soldiers’ Home near Washington, DC. After traveling on back roads into southern Maryland with his captive in tow, Booth would hold Lincoln hostage far away from the protection of Union soldiers. It was a bold plan requiring multiple parties to assist in the abduction and getaway.

Booth reached out to four pro-Southern men, all of whom brought a different skill to the table: John Surratt, Jr., was a Confederate spy who knew the back roads of southern Maryland and could prove invaluable in eluding capture; George Atzerodt was a boatman who knew the waters they would likely encounter as they fled with the captured president in tow; Lewis Powell (also known as Lewis Payne or Lewis Paine) was an ex-Confederate soldier with a powerful physique and a fierce disposition who could be counted on to employ violence, as necessary; and Booth apparently selected the last man, David Herold, a simpleton, because Herold was loyal to a fault. Other persons may have been involved in the initial planning as well, but their participation in the conspiracy was never clear.15

Booth soon recognized that kidnapping the president was unrealistic and unnecessarily complicated. Abducting Lincoln with only a handful of men and fleeing along back roads patrolled by Union troops probably would lead to the conspirators’ arrest, trial, conviction, and execution. Moreover, Booth was not sure how long the Southern Confederacy would remain viable. By late 1864, Southern armies had suffered a series of crushing military defeats. Confederate General Robert E. Lee was stuck in Petersburg, Virginia, as General Ulysses S. Grant besieged the city. Grant’s trusted lieutenant, General William T. Sherman, was cutting a swath of destruction through Georgia. Confederate General John Bell Hood had suffered a disastrous defeat in fierce fighting during the Franklin-Nashville campaign in Tennessee. If Booth and his band were resolved to act, they must act boldly—and soon.16

If he could not seize the president for strategic advantage, Booth could cut off the head of the snake. He believed that he could create chaos—and thus benefit the Southern cause—in Washington by assassinating President Lincoln, Vice President Andrew Johnson, Secretary of State William Seward, and General Grant.

In the modern era, approaching a president of the United States is difficult owing to the extraordinary security precautions in place to ensure his safety. During much of the nineteenth century, however, presidents were readily accessible to the public. Booth bragged that he might have assassinated Lincoln as the newly reelected president delivered his inaugural address on March 4, 1865. As an important person about town, the charismatic young actor enjoyed access to places where he could get at Lincoln at his discretion. Yet as winter turned to spring, Booth hesitated to implement his plan.17

His indecision ended as the Confederacy collapsed. On April 11, two days after Lee’s surrender, Lincoln appeared on a White House balcony to address a crowd of well-wishers standing below. Booth was among the onlookers as the president spoke. “Let us all join in doing the acts necessary to restoring the proper relations between these states and the Union,” Lincoln called to the crowd. He outlined his Reconstruction plan in Louisiana and suggested that he might support universal manhood suffrage, allowing “very intelligent” blacks to vote.18

Booth was disgusted by what he heard. This coarse buffoon who had destroyed the Southern Confederacy would now allow black men to vote in federal elections. The angry young man turned to a friend and exclaimed, “That means nigger citizenship. Now, by God, I’ll put him through. That is the last speech he will ever make.”19

Booth made good on his promise. His plans solidified on April 14 when he learned that Lincoln and Grant would attend a performance at Ford’s Theatre that evening. It would be a convenient opportunity to snuff out the lives of two loathsome tyrants while Booth’s confederates acted against other high-ranking government officials. As Booth shot the president and his chief butcher, the plan was for Atzerodt to assassinate Vice President Johnson while Lewis Powell killed Seward—with Herold’s assistance, if necessary.20

Booth arranged for a horse to be waiting at the rear door of the theatre that evening. Sneaking up behind Lincoln and Grant, he would fire a pistol at the unsuspecting prey, dash from the building, jump on his horse, and ride away into the night. Booth entertained delusions of grandeur, believing that he would be hailed as a hero, at least in the South, for disposing of two villains. As he expressed it in a letter that he handed to a fellow actor, John Matthews, “The world may censure me for what I am about to do, but I am sure posterity will justify me.”21

Shortly after ten that evening, as the play Our American Cousin was showing, Booth made his way to Ford’s Theatre. His presence in the theatre was not alarming. He was a well-known actor and had performed many times at the venue. He even had his mailed delivered there. As he ambled through the theatre, Booth approached Lincoln’s valet, Charles Forbes, and handed him a card, presumably the actor’s calling card. It was not unusual for a prominent actor such as Booth to request a brief audience with the president to offer his regards. Forbes spoke to Booth for a moment before the actor approached the door to the presidential box.22

The presidential box contained two barriers—an exterior door that opened from the hallway into a small vestibule, and an interior door that led to the enclosure where the president and his entourage would sit in chairs to view the performance. Booth entered the exterior door without being challenged or asked to state his business. The man who was supposed to guard the door, John Frederick Parker of the District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department, had departed, reputedly to lounge in a nearby tavern. Inside the vestibule, to Booth’s surprise, no one watched over the president. Booth had come equipped with a knife to slash his way through one or more presidential bodyguards, but he realized that a blitz attack was unnecessary.

Wedging a wooden stick between the wall and the door leading to the presidential box, Booth prepared for the assault. He had thought ahead. By barring the exterior door, he was confident that he could carry out his work without interference. Someone, perhaps Booth himself, had drilled a peephole in the interior door leading from the vestibule to the box. The assassin-in-waiting could look through the hole and see the president sitting in a rocking chair with the left side of his face exposed to the audience of 1,700 people, most of whom sat in seats configured along the floor. The president’s wife, Mary Todd Lincoln, sat to his immediate right. A young couple, Clara Harris, the daughter of New York Senator Ira Harris, and her fiancé, Major Henry Rathbone, had joined the presidential party for the evening after General Grant had cancelled plans to attend.23

Although he had never appeared in the play, Booth was familiar with the script for Our American Cousin. In one scene, a character walks onstage and utters a line that usually provokes widespread laughter in the audience. Booth intended to step through the interior door leading from the vestibule to the presidential box at that moment, aim his .44-caliber Deringer pistol, and fire into the president’s brain. He hoped that the noise of the laughter would buy him precious seconds. During the inevitable confusion, he would flee to safety before armed guards could impede his escape.

This part of the plot worked perfectly. At precisely the appointed time, Booth stepped through the door, lifted his arm, and fired his pistol point-blank into the back of Lincoln’s head. The bullet entered the president’s skull behind his left ear and lodged above his right eye. Lincoln, instantly rendered unconscious by the bullet, slumped in his chair.24

The crowd initially believed the noise was part of the play. Within seconds of the blast, Major Rathbone, an experienced army officer who recognized the sound of gunfire, sprang from his chair and lunged, apparently intent on preventing the assassin’s escape. Booth was prepared for exactly such a contingency. Dropping the Deringer, he pulled a dagger from his pocket and slashed the major from elbow to shoulder. Rathbone staggered backward.

Always attuned to drama, Booth leapt from the box onto the stage below. He may have snagged his foot on a prop and broken his leg when he landed. Some scholars question this version of the story, suggesting that Booth fled out the back of the theatre far too quickly to have broken his leg during the jump. Perhaps he broke it later, during his mad dash from the scene of the crime.
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1.3   This famous Currier & Ives drawing imagines the moment when Booth shot the president in Ford’s Theatre on April 14, 1865. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

In any case, Booth understood that he must scurry from the theatre as quickly as possible to elude the authorities, but he would not be denied his greatest moment on the stage. Rising to his full height, he exclaimed “Sic semper tyrannis” (“thus ever to tyrants”), the state motto of Virginia. Some eyewitnesses heard him shout, “I have done it; the South is avenged!” Accounts varied as to the exact wording, but everyone agreed that a man had leapt from the presidential box to the stage below and uttered a few words before he rushed backstage.25

As for the other conspirators, they were supposed to act in concert with Booth, murdering their targets at the same time that the actor assassinated the president. Here the plot unraveled. Atzerodt lost his nerve and did not attack Vice President Johnson. Instead, he spent the evening drowning his sorrows in alcohol. Lewis Powell showed up at Secretary Seward’s house and stabbed the bedridden man, but he, too, failed in his assignment. Seward had been grievously injured in a recent carriage accident and was recuperating in his bed. He suffered serious stab wounds, but survived the attack.26

In the meantime, the scene at Ford’s Theatre dissolved into chaos. Mary Todd Lincoln wailed incessantly as two doctors from the audience, Charles Leale and Charles Sabin Taft, removed the president from his chair and laid him on the floor so they could examine the wound. Feeling with his hand, Leale discovered the hole in Lincoln’s head. He attempted to dig the bullet from the hole, but he could not find the object. He and Dr. Taft realized that the damage was massive. “His wound is mortal,” Dr. Leale announced. “It is impossible for him to recover.” Sometime during these minutes, the lead actress from the play, Laura Keene, entered the presidential box and cradled the dying man’s head in her lap.27

If he could not save his patient’s life, Dr. Leale could stabilize Lincoln’s condition by removing blood clots from the head wound with his hand. He understood that Lincoln would not survive a journey back to the White House, but Leale did not want the president to die on the theatre floor. He and Dr. Taft agreed that the mortally wounded man must be moved to a bed where he could rest comfortably.

A group of onlookers carried the president’s enormous frame from the theatre. They did not have a destination in mind until they heard a man, Henry Safford, shouting, “Bring him in here! Bring him in here!” Safford was a lodger in a boarding house across from Ford’s Theatre owned by William Petersen, a German tailor. At Safford’s invitation, the crowd of men carried the prostrate Abraham Lincoln into a back bedroom of the Petersen house. They had to lay his six-foot, four-inch body diagonally on the bed because Lincoln was too tall to rest fully prone on the small mattress.28

By this time, word spread that Lincoln had been shot. A procession of important persons congregated at the Petersen house to check on the president’s condition. Secretary of War Edwin Stanton took charge, issuing orders and even directing that Mary Todd Lincoln be taken from the room after she could not control her hysteria. Throughout the night, Stanton dispatched orders to government personnel and military officers to search for Booth. No one knew where the assailant had fled, but Stanton was determined to track him down.

Apart from Stanton and Secretary of the Navy Gideon Welles, no one milling about the Petersen house quite knew what to do. The president’s wife was inconsolable, occasionally falling quiet, but often crying aloud in her grief. The doctors felt impotent; they had done all they could do, but it was a matter of time before the patient expired. Nineteenth-century medicine could not save his life.29

Lincoln survived longer than his doctors had anticipated. He died in the early morning hours of April 15, at 7:22 a.m., nine hours after the shooting, having never regained consciousness. It was Easter Sunday—a day known by many Americans forever after as “Black Easter.” Present at Lincoln’s deathbed, Secretary Stanton uttered a phrase that soon became famous: “Now, he belongs to the ages.”30

The news electrified the nation. On the eve of the Union triumph in the Civil War, the man who had guided his nation through its worst days was struck dead by the forces of darkness and evil. Many Americans believed that the Confederate leadership must have been behind the conspiracy. It was inconceivable that Booth and his small band of ruffians could have engineered the plot without Southern support.31

During his life, Lincoln engendered a wide range of opinion. Some citizens viewed him as an uneducated country bumpkin ill-suited for the presidency. Others considered him a wise, benevolent father figure who had grown into his role as the commander in chief of a war-torn nation. Confederates believed he was a fiend hell-bent on emancipating their slaves and destroying the South. Soldiers and former slaves called him “Father Abraham.” He was vacillating, decisive, tyrannical, bumbling, cruel, gentle, peace-loving, war-crazy, and anything else his detractors and supporters cared to project onto him.32

With his death, Lincoln was transformed into an iconic figure. Gone was the vacillating flesh-and-blood politician struggling to find his way through a monstrous civil war. In his place, a new figure emerged, a “man of granite,” a giant among men, an untouchable legend. Observing the myths that sprang up as soon as Lincoln died, a journalist shrewdly remarked that the assassination “has made it impossible to speak the truth of Abraham Lincoln hereafter.”33

The nation grieved as never before. Even George Washington’s death almost sixty-six years earlier had not been met with such an outpouring of heartfelt agony. The nation’s first president had died of natural causes while in retirement, but Lincoln had been the victim of an assassin’s bullet, his life snuffed out at the beginning of what promised to be a momentous second term. By all rights, his service to the nation should not have ended so soon.

Schools and businesses shut down. Flags flew at half-mast for weeks. Lincoln’s body lay on display in the East Room of the White House on April 17, where 25,000 people—some waiting up to six hours to gain entry—filed past to catch one last glimpse at the martyr. Ten days after Lincoln died, his remains were transferred to a private rail car for a 1,700-mile journey to his hometown of Springfield, Illinois, for interment. Americans still in mourning lined the track for much of the journey.34

Even as the nation grieved for its fallen hero, the search was on for the president’s assassin. His identity was never in doubt. A large number of eyewitnesses had identified John Wilkes Booth, a prominent actor, as the man who leapt from the presidential box onto the stage at Ford’s Theatre. With the assault on Secretary of State Seward that same evening, everyone understood that Booth probably was part of a conspiracy to topple the leaders of the executive branch of the federal government. The extent of the conspiracy was not yet known.35

Booth escaped from the capital city as quickly as possible. Within thirty minutes of the shooting, he approached a sentinel, Sergeant Silas T. Cobb of the 3rd Massachusetts Heavy Artillery, at the Navy Yard Bridge leading from Washington, DC, into Maryland. The gunman hoped that he had reached the bridge before news of the assassination spread throughout the city.

Sgt. Cobb was not supposed to allow anyone to cross the bridge after dark. Always the master thespian, Booth appeared calm and collected. He said that he did not know the bridge closed at nightfall. He had hoped to traverse the dark road by the light of the moon; therefore, he had waited to begin his journey until he was sure the moon filled the night sky. Unaware that Booth would soon be the most sought-after man in the country, the sergeant waved him through. Booth’s co-conspirator, David Herold, crossed the same bridge an hour later and met up with Booth in Maryland. The two men collected weapons they had hidden previously at a tavern in Surrattsville, Maryland.36

Booth’s injured leg presented a complication, but not an insurmountable obstacle. He and Herold rode their horses to the home of Dr. Samuel A. Mudd in southern Maryland. A physician, Mudd examined the leg and determined that it was broken. He set the leg in a splint and arranged for Booth to procure a set of crutches. Mudd’s role in the assassination has remained a point of contention since that evening. He later claimed that he knew nothing of the assassination and only treated Booth because the man required medical attention. Yet even after he learned of the assassination and Booth’s probable guilt, Mudd hesitated to contact the authorities. Whether he was an accomplice after the fact or an innocent man caught in Booth’s web of deceit, Mudd paid a price for his efforts that night. Arrested and put on trial, he served a prison sentence until 1869. Most historians remain skeptical that the doctor was as innocent as he claimed.37

After leaving Mudd’s house, Booth and Herold made their way to Rich Hill, an estate owned by Samuel Cox, Sr., a loyal Southern man, near Bel Alton, Maryland. Cox enlisted the assistance of another trusted fellow, Thomas Jones, who hid the fugitives in a swamp for five days until they could cross the Potomac River into Virginia. By April 24, Booth and Herold had left Maryland and found refuge at Richard H. Garrett’s farm, Locust Hill, near Port Royal, Virginia. Assuming an alias, Booth lied to Garrett, telling the man nothing about the assassination. He said that he was a Confederate soldier returning home from the war.38

Garrett suspected that his two visitors had lied, but before he acted on his suspicions, Union soldiers from the 16th New York Cavalry arrived. Booth had been the subject of an intense manhunt in the eleven days since Lincoln had died. Initially, his pursuers had searched the Maryland countryside, following his trail from the Navy Yard Bridge. Eventually, Union troops realized that Booth and Herold had crossed the river into Virginia. Two strangers traveling on horseback, with one of the men sporting a broken leg, attracted attention. By April 26, the soldiers found the conspirators hiding in the Garrett family barn.39

Ordered to surrender or the soldiers would burn the barn within fifteen minutes, Booth vowed never to be taken alive. Davey Herold was less willing to die. He chose to surrender, and Booth agreed to let him go. After Herold was alone inside the barn, Booth negotiated with his captors. The soldiers wanted to take him alive so they could question him about the assassination plot. Booth simply refused to lay down his weapons or leave the barn. Fearful that the armed fugitive would never surrender and might cause further damage, the soldiers set fire to the barn, confident that Booth would have no choice but to rush outside to escape the flames.40

As fire engulfed the building, one soldier, Sergeant Thomas P. “Boston” Corbett, eyed the assassin through a slit in the wall. Told that Booth was pointing a carbine rifle at a fellow soldier, Corbett aimed his pistol and fired. The bullet struck Booth in the back of the head, severing his spinal cord. Soldiers scurried into the burning barn and carried the wounded assassin outside, placing his body beside a grove of locust trees. When the heat from the fire grew too intense, they carried Booth onto the porch of the Garrett home.

He was in agony. Able to speak only in a hoarse whisper, Booth said, “Tell my mother I die for my country.” After he asked a soldier to lift his hands so that he could gaze on them, Booth muttered, “useless, useless.” He died on the porch of the Garrett House two hours after he was shot on April 26, 1865.41

Lincoln’s assassin was dead, but some of his confederates remained at large. Secretary Stanton and the army wasted little time in pursuing leads. Anyone who might have participated in the scheme was rounded up for questioning and possible prosecution. Investigators gradually narrowed the list to nine suspects. One man, Edman (sometimes spelled “Edmund”) “Ned” Spangler, a thirty-nine-year-old stagehand at Ford’s Theatre who unwittingly held the reins of John Wilkes Booth’s horse briefly during the night of the assassination, was not part of the conspiracy, but he was in the wrong place at the wrong time. Spangler was arrested, released, and arrested again. Later, he was convicted on dubious evidence for his role in the conspiracy and sentenced to serve six years in prison. Spangler served slightly less than four years until President Andrew Johnson pardoned him before Johnson left office in March 1869.42

Michael O’Laughlen and Samuel Arnold were early recruits in the original plot to kidnap Lincoln, but they dropped out before Booth orchestrated the assassination. Both men were sentenced to life in prison. O’Laughlen died of yellow fever in 1867, but Arnold was among the men President Johnson pardoned in 1869. Dr. Samuel Mudd, convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment, also won a pardon in 1869.43

John H. Surratt, Jr., had met with John Wilkes Booth on several occasions in late 1864 and early 1865. He was a Confederate courier and spy as well as a willing participant in the kidnapping scheme. When Booth shot the president on April 14, Surratt was in Elmira, New York. Recognizing that he probably would be arrested, he fled to Montréal. Later, he served under the alias John Watson in the Ninth Company of the Pontifical Zouaves in the Papal States before he was recognized and arrested. Surratt escaped to Italy and traveled on to Alexandria, Egypt. Arrested by US officials in Egypt, he was shipped back to the United States for trial. Unlike the other conspirators, who were tried by a military commission, Surratt was tried by a civilian court. He won his release following a mistrial in 1867.44

The four major defendants—Lewis Powell, George Atzerodt, David Herold, and Mary Surratt—were tried by a nine-member military tribunal, convicted, and sentenced to death. Critics, notably former Lincoln Attorney General Edward Bates and Secretary of the Navy Gideon Welles, argued that the conspirators should have been tried by a civilian court. Military tribunals are only appropriate when civilian courts cannot operate owing to an insurrection, but the war had ended by the time the Lincoln conspirators were captured and bound over for trial. (An 1866 United States Supreme Court case, Ex Parte Milligan, eventually reached this same conclusion.) In response to the criticism, Lincoln’s second attorney general, James Speed, contended that the military nature of the conspiracy and the existence of martial law in the District of Columbia necessitated trial by a military tribunal. President Johnson agreed.45

Powell, Atzerodt, and Herold had been active participants in the Lincoln assassination plan, but Mary Surratt’s culpability was a matter of dispute. She owned the boarding house where the conspirators met to discuss the plans to abduct or kill President Lincoln. Her son, John, was a Confederate spy and an integral member of the cabal. By all accounts, Mary Surratt was a Confederate sympathizer, but whether she actively plotted to assassinate Lincoln is not known. Questionable evidence convicted her. She delivered a package of “shooting irons” to the tavern in Surrattsville on the day of the assassination. The tavern keeper’s testimony that she told him “there will be parties here tonight who will call for them” was the most damning evidence against her. Whether she understood why Booth and his co-conspirators needed the package was never clear.46

Being tried outside of the civilian courts placed the defendants at a significant disadvantage. In a civil court of law, a guilty verdict against a criminal defendant must be unanimous. If the defendant is convicted, he or she can appeal the decision to a higher court. Defendants enjoy constitutional protections such as due process of law. By contrast, a military commission can convict a defendant by a simple majority vote. A death penalty can be imposed with a two-thirds majority. A defendant can only appeal a conviction to the president of the United States. In light of the passions surrounding the assassination of the now almost universally revered Abraham Lincoln, the four defendants knew they faced formidable odds against an acquittal.47

In a seven-week trial that featured 366 witnesses and produced a 4,900-page transcript, members of the military commission sifted through evidence against the three men and one woman accused of planning the president’s murder. After meeting in secret from June 29 until July 5, 1865, the tribunal convicted the four major defendants and sentenced them to be executed. The prisoners learned the following day that they would be hanged on July 7. President Johnson declined to commute their sentences.
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1.4   Members of the military commission that tried the Lincoln conspirators are shown, standing left to right: Brigadier General Thomas M. Harris; Major General Lew Wallace; Major General August V. Kautz; and Brevet Brigadier General Henry L. Burnett, assistant judge advocate general. Seated left to right: Lieutenant Colonel David R. Clendenin; Colonel C. H. Tompkins; Brigadier General Albion P. Howe; Brigadier General James Ekin; Major General David Hunter; Brigadier General Robert S. Foster; Ohio Congressman John A. Bingham, assistant judge advocate general; and Brigadier General Joseph Holt, judge advocate general. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Mary Surratt’s supporters attempted to see the president to beg for leniency, but he refused to meet with them. When her attorneys secured a writ of habeas corpus from a judge ordering that Mary Surratt be released into civilian custody, Johnson suspended the writ. He ordered that the defendants be hanged on July 7 between 10:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. The prisoners were housed in the old prison on the grounds of the Washington Arsenal, and there they would be executed.48

It was an excruciatingly hot day when the four condemned felons shuffled to the gallows accompanied by clergymen and four soldiers from Company F of the Fourteenth Veteran Reserves. Around 1:15 p.m. on July 7, the group emerged from the prison into the courtyard where a gallows platform had been erected. Brevet Major General John F. Hartranft, commander of the prison, led the way. The crowd, estimated at between 1,000 and 3,000 people, mostly soldiers, watched from the courtyard as well as from adjacent windows and rooftops.49

Wearing a black veil that obscured her face, Mary Surratt followed General Hartranft. She was so weak and feeble that she required assistance from two army officers, one on each arm. The veil also made it difficult to see. When she told a soldier that her wrists hurt because they were bound too tightly, he assured her, “Well, it won’t hurt long.”

George Atzerodt came next. He, too, appeared unable to walk without assistance from two army officers. He was heard to cry, “God help me now! Oh! Oh! Oh!” Next was Davey Herold, who also walked with assistance from two well-placed soldiers.

The most remarkable prisoner of all, noticed by many observers, came last. Lewis Powell, defiant to the end, strutted “like a king to be crowned,” in the words of a journalist who watched the scene unfold. After a gust of wind blew the hat from Powell’s head, Reverend Abram Dunn Gillette retrieved it and placed it on the condemned man’s head. “Thank you, doctor,” Powell said, smiling. “I won’t be needing it much longer.”50

After they climbed the thirteen steps of the scaffold, the prisoners sat in chairs while their guards knelt to bind their legs with white cloth. Two ministers whispered in Mary Surratt’s ear while she waited. Soldiers standing on the platform held parasols over her head to shield her from the sun. With the preliminaries concluded, General Hartranft read the verdict. Afterward, Reverend Gillette addressed the crowd and offered a prayer. Speeches and prayers from the other ministers followed.

After all the words were spoken, the prisoners were pulled from their chairs and positioned next to the four nooses. Soldiers pinioned their arms behind their bodies. Mary Surratt said, “Please don’t let me fall.” George Atzerodt trembled as he spoke. “Gentlemen, take warn …” Overcome with emotion, he could not finish the sentence. “Goodbye gentlemen who are before me now,” he finally managed to say. “May we all meet in the next world.” The hangman, Captain Christian Rath, and his four assistants placed white hoods on the prisoners’ heads. Atzerodt muttered something unintelligible before calling out, “Don’t choke me.” Herold and Powell remained silent.51

When Rath was satisfied that everything was in place, he clapped his hands three times. On the third clap, the four soldiers standing beneath the platform kicked the supports holding the trap doors in place. The doors sprang open and the prisoners fell through. Their bodies jerked violently. Mary Surratt appeared to die instantly, but the others danced for several minutes. (She became the first woman ever executed by the United States federal government.) Herold wet himself. Atzerodt convulsed before falling still. Lewis Powell writhed and swung for five minutes. Twenty minutes after the hanging, all four were pronounced dead. Their bodies were cut down and placed in simple pine coffins to be buried in shallow graves against the prison wall.52
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1.5   The Lincoln conspirators were quickly dispatched to the gallows. This photograph, snapped by the legendary photographer Alexander Gardner, shows the bodies immediately after the hanging. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

And so one of the most infamous assassinations in American history ended with the deaths of the conspirators in what some critics deemed a rush to judgment. The architect of the crime, John Wilkes Booth, had already paid for his deeds with his life, but the need for revenge remained strong among members of the Johnson administration as well as the Northern public. If agents of the federal government could not punish the trigger man, they could exact vengeance against his accomplices.53

Booth’s motives remain controversial. Some observers have characterized him as a Type 2 killer. According to this view, Booth was primarily a vain, egocentric actor with little control over his emotions. Because he could not compete with his more famous father and brothers, the young actor initiated a bold crime that would eclipse their fame forever. Killing Abraham Lincoln would ensure that the name “John Wilkes Booth” lived on in the pages of history.

The problem with this theory is that it presupposes that John Wilkes Booth was a non-entity seeking to transform himself into a well-known public figure. Killing the president of the United States presumably would complete such a transformation. Yet Booth was a young, handsome, charismatic public figure in his own right. If he had not yet attained the same level of fame as his family members, he had many years left to prove himself. Type 2 killers frequently act owing to feelings of rejection and worthlessness in their lives. Taking the life of a public figure enhances their stature. John Wilkes Booth already enjoyed a level of prominence unknown to all but a handful of Americans.

Although Booth undoubtedly understood that assassinating the president would make him even more famous than he already was, he appeared to act primarily for political motives. If this is the case, he was a classic Type 1 assassin. After the Confederate States of America suffered a series of battlefield defeats and President Lincoln was reelected in 1864, Booth became increasingly despondent. The Southland that he loved so much was imperiled. He held Abraham Lincoln personally responsible for the wretched state of affairs in the South. Killing the tyrannical president might alleviate the suffering of Southerners and improve the prospects for a negotiated settlement to resolve differences between the North and the South. Even if it was too late to affect the outcome of the war, shooting Lincoln was the most effective way of punishing the loathsome creature.

Booth believed that history would judge him kindly. He was sadly mistaken. Generations of Americans have come to revere the historical memory of Abraham Lincoln. They entertain a far different opinion of John Wilkes Booth. For the overwhelming majority of Americans as well as citizens throughout the world, Booth remains one of the most reviled miscreants in the nation’s history.54


Chapter 2

“I KILLED THE PRESIDENT FOR THE GOOD OF THE LABORING PEOPLE, THE GOOD PEOPLE. I AM NOT SORRY FOR MY CRIME”: WILLIAM MCKINLEY (1901)

President William McKinley has come down through history as a remote, old-fashioned, stodgy historical figure. When he is remembered, if at all, it is because he was assassinated in 1901, an event that propelled the legendary man of action Theodore Roosevelt into the presidency. Unlike the giants of American politics such as George Washington, Abraham Lincoln, and Franklin D. Roosevelt, President McKinley is little known, and his accomplishments are seldom appreciated by generations of Americans. He stares out of old photographs with his dark, piercing eyes, thinning, slicked-back hair, and a vaguely menacing expression that appears to reveal a humorless, colorless placeholder who temporarily occupied the executive chair until a better man could be found.55

Yet the McKinley who walked the earth for fifty-eight years was not quite as sterile and unappealing as facile historical memory would suggest. He left behind a mixed legacy, but he could cite notable achievements. Under his leadership, the United States won a “splendid little war” with Spain to establish a presence in Cuba and the Far East. The national economy rebounded following a disastrous downturn in 1893. The country appeared on the international stage as a global power for the first time, and Americans felt proud of their ascendancy. The challenges of suppressing a nasty insurrection in the Philippines and combating charges of American imperialism tarnished McKinley’s reputation, but he gradually earned the respect and even admiration of many Americans during his time in office.

Far from being cold and aloof, William McKinley loved people. One of his favorite activities in public life was to mingle with his constituents—a conviviality that may have contributed to his death because McKinley’s insistence on greeting the public allowed his assassin to venture close enough to shoot the man. By all accounts, McKinley always had a kind word for his assistants and associates. As a young congressman, he enjoyed a well-deserved reputation as one of the most congenial fellows in Washington, DC. More than that, he eschewed extreme partisanship in favor of compromise through consensus-building. One colleague, Tom Reed, wryly observed that “My opponents in Congress go at me tooth and nail, but they always apologize to William when they are going to call him names.”56

Although he had served with distinction in the Union army during the Civil War and steadily paid his political dues as a congressman and later governor of Ohio, McKinley was not one of those men who had burned with presidential ambition since his youth. It is difficult to say exactly when he began to harbor ambitions to live in the White House. His name surfaced as a possible Republican candidate was early as 1892. By 1895, he was scouting the terrain. Mark Hanna, a fellow Ohioan known as a kingmaker for his masterful ability to manipulate the political system, became a key supporter.57

[image: image]

2.1   William McKinley, twenty-fifth president of the United States from 1897 until 1901, is perhaps best remembered for his assassination in September 1901. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

McKinley had the right resume for the job during the 1890s. His affiliation with Ohio, an important Midwestern bellwether state, made his candidacy strategically beneficial. Three of Ohio’s native sons—Ulysses S. Grant, Rutherford B. Hayes, and James A. Garfield—had already been elevated to the presidency, attesting to the importance of the Buckeye State in national politics. (The number is five if William Henry Harrison and his grandson, Benjamin, are counted, although they made their names outside of Ohio.) McKinley knew President Hayes from their mutual wartime service. One story told of Hayes as a senior officer in McKinley’s regiment witnessing the younger man’s bravery under fire during the Battle of Antietam in 1862. According to the popular recounting of the event, Hayes turned to a fellow officer and remarked, “Keep your eye on that young man. There is something in him.” Both men made their names in 1876, when Hayes won a disputed presidential election and McKinley secured a seat in the US House of Representatives.58

Never flashy or charismatic, McKinley presented himself as steady and rock solid, a sober man well-suited to lead the nation through sober times. He had compiled a solid record as a pro-business Republican who also understood the problems of the middle class. As a member of Congress in 1890, he championed high protective tariffs through legislation that bore his name. It was an issue near and dear to many Republican hearts and wallets. After losing his congressional reelection bid in 1890, McKinley went home and won the Ohio gubernatorial post. From there, with Hanna’s help, he was positioned to seek the presidency.59

This affable, rotund fellow was a creature of his time and place. McKinley was not a wealthy robber baron, but neither did he understand the plight of the lower classes. He had never known hunger, homelessness, or the hopeless despair of the working man. Instead, he was the epitome of the small town, marginally affluent, Protestant, church-going white citizen of good faith who could not fathom the wretched conditions of Negroes, immigrants, or the working poor. He was a devoted family man who doted on his frail wife, Ida, and thought himself a good Christian man. Oblivious to others outside of his station, he most likely would have been incredulous to learn that for some poor souls, he had become a symbol of American greed and imperialism.

He did not intentionally oppress anyone. In fact, he was flexible on the issues dividing rich and poor. McKinley initially waffled on the currency question, one of the most pressing matters of the 1890s. Farmers and the working poor preferred currency backed by silver, which would ensure that more money could be circulated even as it promoted inflation. Businessmen preferred the gold standard, which they believed would stabilize the currency and ensure economic prosperity in the long run. The issue was crucial for elected officials at all levels of government because the Panic of 1893 had led to a deep recession that spread mass suffering and economic hardship. Falling in line with his class, McKinley eventually supported the gold standard, thereby assuring party elders that he was a man who could be trusted to carry out core Republican policies if he won the presidency.60

The presidential contest of 1896 became a transformative election. The United States underwent enormous changes at the end of the nineteenth century as the country moved from a largely rural, agricultural economy to an urban, industrialized one. Immigrants streamed onto American shores in record numbers in search of better lives. Business associations that seemed more acquisitive and less congenial than many Americans believed desirable gradually replaced kinship relations that had been so important to white Anglo-Saxon Protestants of an earlier age. The election reflected the changes and the tumult that ordinary citizens felt.

If William McKinley became the standard-bearer for a party of big business interests and the gold standard, his Democratic opponent was a worthy counterweight. William Jennings Bryan, a former Nebraska congressman, emerged as the nominee of both the People’s Party and the Democratic Party. An old-style stump orator, he had built a career as a populist who argued in favor of low tariffs to assist farmers, but he was not a leader in the agrarian revolt of the 1890s. He came late to the silver currency platform but, like many a politician who spies a political opening, he arrived with a vengeance. Confessing that he did not fully grasp the nuances of his new agenda, Bryan bluntly told the press that “the people of Nebraska are for free silver and I am for free silver. I will look up the arguments later.”61

In the early stages of the general election race, Bryan appeared to be a genuine threat. His campaign rallies generated huge crowds of enthusiastic farmers and laborers who hung on his every word. During the Democratic National Convention in Chicago on July 9, 1896, Bryan’s “Cross of Gold” speech became one of the most memorable addresses in American political history.62

Despite his powerful oratory, Bryan could not overcome McKinley’s advantages. Conservatives feared Bryan’s radicalism and populists thought that he was the wrong messenger to carry a populist banner. When the polls closed in November, McKinley captured the presidency with 271 electoral votes to Bryan’s 176 votes, an Electoral College landslide of more than 61 percent. The popular vote told a different tale: McKinley prevailed by about 600,000 votes out of 13.5 million ballots cast, hardly a resounding victory. Republicans carried twenty-three states compared with twenty-two states for the Democrats. Bryan performed well in the South and in the western states, but he lost the heavily populated northeastern states.63

The incoming president appeared to be a solid Republican who vowed in his inaugural address not to pursue “wars of conquest” and to “avoid the temptation of territorial aggression.” His supporters believed that he would engage in the same type of genial consensus-building efforts he had pursued throughout his political career. At the outset, he seemed to be in track to be a caretaker president, keeping the tariff in place, promoting the gold standard, and protecting the interests of the investor class. Mark Hanna, now a US senator, could not have been more pleased.64

And then events intervened to change the trajectory of American history, as so often happens. When the Cuban exile José Julián Martí Pérez led a revolt in Cuba in 1895, US public opinion supported his efforts. After he came into office in 1897, McKinley faced enormous pressure to assist the rebels in their struggle against Spanish control of Cuba. By that time, Martí was dead and the Cuban independence movement appeared to be foundering. American businessmen feared that their island investments were imperiled while newspapers such as William Randolph Hearst’s New York Journal and Joseph Pulitzer’s New York World competed to see who could sling the most effective propaganda in favor of American intervention.

Bowing to the pressure, McKinley dispatched an American ship, the USS Maine, to protect American interests. When the ship exploded in Havana Harbor on the evening of February 15, 1898, American outrage reached new heights, propelled by the press. McKinley could no longer resist the drumbeat for intervention. On April 25, Congress declared war and American soldiers and sailors landed on the island toward the end of June. After a short series of battles, the United States emerged triumphant, pushing the Spanish out of Cuba and establishing an American presence in Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Philippines. Thus, America became a major player on the world stage, and McKinley, the reluctant imperialist, became the leader of a new empire.65

The president eventually won a second term with the slogan “Prosperity at Home and Prestige Abroad.” He also made a decision that would hold enormous consequences for the presidency. Theodore Roosevelt joined his ticket as his vice president. Garret Hobart, vice president during McKinley’s first term, had been a valued friend and confidant, but Hobart died in 1899 owing to a bad heart. McKinley finished the term without a second in command. In the meantime, Roosevelt had been rising steadily through the ranks, holding a series of state and national offices, including the governorship of New York. He appeared to be an inspired vice-presidential pick.66

Aside from his energy as a public official, Roosevelt was a man of action who won battlefield glory. His name became instantly recognizable when he led the First US Volunteer Cavalry Regiment, nicknamed the Rough Riders, on a mad charge along a grassy slope on the San Juan Heights of Cuba during the Spanish American War. Although the episode was hardly a noteworthy battle in the annals of American history, Roosevelt demonstrated physical bravery and, with able assistance from newspapers, parlayed his exploits into a public relations bonanza. When McKinley included the colorful, energetic Roosevelt on the ticket in 1900, the addition strengthened an already strong candidacy. Although Hanna expressed misgivings about including the “cowboy” in the administration, he could take comfort in the likelihood that the new vice president, having relinquished the governorship of New York, was politically neutered.67

With his reelection, McKinley solidified his image as a symbol of the might and majesty of the United States. It was an image that the president and many Americans relished, but a small faction, the anarchists, were repulsed by the nation’s capitalist zeal and its growing imperialist impulses. For turn-of-the-century anarchists, the newly emergent empire of the United States represented much of what was wrong with the world.

While anarchism dates back to the Greeks of the third century BCE, English thinker William Godwin developed the modern theory at the end of the eighteenth century. He had seen the dehumanizing effects of industrialization in England as well as the rise of totalitarian states throughout much of Europe. Godwin came to believe that all governments are inherently corrosive and corrupt. Human beings can only thrive if they face life free from encumbrances and oppressive institutions that stifle freedom. If individuals are left alone and not forced to act against their will, invariably they will fall back on reason and live in harmony with each other. When human beings misbehave, the underlying cause is a lack of education. The central task of life is to acquire enough education to understand how to live as a rational, autonomous human being. It was an orderly view of a chaotic world.68

Although many anarchists remained committed to peaceful resistance to government action, extremists argued that governments would oppress the citizenry unless they were stopped by acts of violence. Johann Most, a German American anarchist, popularized the concept of the “propaganda of the deed,” which involved an organized campaign of terror against political institutions as a means of advancing the anarchist cause. Practitioners of this form of anarchism prided themselves on their ability to strike at governments by attacking their citizens through public acts of violence.69

Anarchism never attracted large numbers of adherents in the United States, but the fear of government-hating terrorists spread dramatically in the early years of the twentieth century. To hear fear-mongers tell the tale, anarchists lurked around every corner. The terror that Americans felt only emboldened the extremists. Johann Most’s heir apparent, the Italian immigrant Luigi Galleani, led an effort to terrorize the citizenry during the 1910s. His devoted followers, the Galleanists, favored bomb attacks in crowded cities as a means of calling attention to the failures of Western, highly industrialized governments. Any self-professed anarchist, even if he or she emphatically rejected the propaganda of the deed, risked being characterized as a dangerous radical who was merely biding his time before erupting into violence.70

Arguably the most famous (or infamous) American anarchist was a Russian Jew, Emma Goldman, who came to the United States in 1885 as an adolescent. She embraced the anarchist cause while reading about the Haymarket riot, a dramatic clash between Chicago police and striking workers. Some unknown soul hurled dynamite at the police during the demonstration. In response, officers fired on the crowd. When the smoke cleared, eight policeman and numerous civilians died. As a result of the intense media coverage, the stereotype of the “bomb-throwing anarchist” was born and gained credence in the court of public opinion. Goldman, once denounced as a “rebel woman,” empathized with the workers killed in the melee. She decided that all governments were corrupt and destroyed human freedom. To share her passion with her fellow man, she took to writing fierce editorials and speaking out at anarchist rallies, discovering that she was a gifted rabble-rouser. Many Americans saw “Red Emma” as a genuine threat to law and order in the republic, but disenfranchised peoples, especially recent immigrants, hailed her as a brave champion of individualism and free speech.71
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2.2   Leon Czolgosz claimed that he was inspired to kill President McKinley by the well-known anarchist Emma Goldman, pictured here. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

One young man drawn to the anti-government message was Leon Czolgosz, a twenty-eight-year-old son of Polish Catholic immigrants. He spent much of his early life working in factories and came to view the anarchist perspective on oppressive governments as inspired. Czolgosz approached Goldman as she prepared to speak at a rally in Cleveland, Ohio, on May 5, 1901, and asked for recommendations on readings. Without thinking much about it, she uttered a few suggestions and returned to her preparations. She encountered him again on July 12, 1901, as she was leaving the Chicago home of Abraham Isaak, publisher of the anarchist newspaper Free Society. She remembered this odd character, who introduced himself as Nieman (German for “no man”), as the fellow she had spoken with in Cleveland. Nieman accompanied her on a Chicago elevated train to the home of several friends. She left him there and departed, never to see him again. Later, after Czolgosz became known as McKinley’s assassin, she recalled him as “very young, a mere youth, of medium height, well built and carrying himself very erect. But it was his face that held me, a most sensitive face, with delicate pink complexion. …”72

The pink-cheeked youth was a loner. At the age of twenty-five, he apparently suffered a nervous breakdown. For a time, he moved back to his family’s farm in Warrensville, Ohio, but he grew listless, refused to help out, and quarreled frequently with family members, especially his stepmother.73

Czolgosz was fascinated by the assassination of King Umberto I of Italy on July 29, 1900. The anarchist triggerman, Gaetano Bresci, claimed that he acted on behalf of the people. This noble motive resonated with the strange young man. Inspired by Bresci’s courageous deed, Emma Goldman’s impassioned rhetoric, and his readings in anarchist literature, Czolgosz resolved to make something of his aimless life. He would strike out at the symbol of American oppression: President William McKinley. (He apparently failed to notice that Goldman’s speeches did not call for violence.)74

Using his favorite alias, Fred C. Nieman, he traveled to Buffalo, New York, site of the Pan-American Exposition of 1901. The exposition was a world’s fair situated on 350 acres of land in Buffalo and scheduled to last from May 1 until November 2, 1901. President McKinley had promised to attend earlier in the year, but he had been delayed. Now he was scheduled to appear at the Temple of Music at 4:00 p.m. on September 6. He delivered a well-received speech to an estimated crowd of 116,000 people the day before. Always happy to greet his constituents, the president looked forward to shaking hands with as many common citizens as he could meet in the allotted time.75

In the meantime, Fred Nieman entered a Buffalo hardware store and purchased a new .32-caliber Iver Johnson revolver, paying $4.50 for the weapon. It was the same model that Bresci had used to kill Umberto I. Safely ensconced in a hotel room, he practiced wrapping the revolver in a white handkerchief to disguise his intent until the last possible moment.76

Unaware of his date with Czolgosz, McKinley awoke on September 6 as a guest in the posh home of Exposition president John G. Milburn. After setting off on an invigorating early morning walk, he boarded a train for a sightseeing excursion to nearby Niagara Falls. He returned in time to enter the stately Temple of Music to greet the public. Unbeknownst to McKinley, Czolgosz had followed the presidential entourage to Niagara in hopes of getting a shot at his target. When he realized that he would never get close enough to shoot the president, the would-be assassin returned to Buffalo. His only hope was to mingle with the crowd waiting to see McKinley inside the Temple of Music. He knew that he might be searched or called out before he could complete his task, but the slow-moving reception line was Czolgosz’s last and best opportunity to strike a blow for anarchism.77

Shortly before 4:00 p.m., McKinley took his place on the dais in the Temple of Music with his personal secretary, George B. Cortelyou, on his right and John Milburn on his left. Satisfied with the accommodations, he turned to his security detail and gave the order. “Let them come,” he said. Someone threw open the doors and the assembled masses swarmed inside.

The first man to speak to the president, Dr. Clinton Colegrove of Holland, New York, cryptically said, “George Washington, Abraham Lincoln, and President McKinley.” Presumably the remark was meant as a compliment, categorizing the incumbent with two of the nation’s great presidents from the past. McKinley smiled and graciously moved the gentleman along so he could greet the rest of the well-wishers in line.78

As the crowd shuffled through the room, Secret Service agents focused on a swarthy-looking man who fit the stereotype of an Italian anarchist. Their inattention allowed Leon Czolgosz to remain what he had been throughout most of his life—the invisible fellow that never stood out in a crowd. No one noticed that he had his right hand stuffed inside his pocket.

A large African American, James Parker, a six-foot-four-inch waiter from Atlanta, grew irritated at the man standing in front of him. The fellow simply would not keep up with the rest of the line. “If you can’t go faster, at least let me by,” he finally exclaimed in exasperation. The man, Nieman, ignored him and focused on the president standing on the dais, all the while continuing his slow shuffle forward.79

The moment of reckoning arrived. Nieman/Czolgosz stood face-to-face with the object of his hatred. President McKinley extended his right hand while the odd young man lifted his left. In a swift motion that appeared out of character for a man who had been so sluggish in his movements, Czolgosz whipped his right hand from his pocket. He held his .32 caliber revolver concealed beneath a white handkerchief. Before anyone had time to react, the sound of two firecrackers erupted in the room. A small cloud of smoke wafted up from the scene.

The president clutched his midriff and staggered, surprised at the assault. He remained on his feet, but clearly he had been injured. After a few seconds when everyone was too stunned to move, bystanders sprang into action. James Parker was the first to strike Czolgosz, punching him in the neck while he reached for the revolver. Several officers in the security detail jumped into action, smashing their fists into the assailant and driving him to the ground. Czolgosz cried out, “I done my duty.”80
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2.3   Self-professed anarchist Leon Czolgosz is depicted in this drawing at the moment when he shot President McKinley on September 6, 1901. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Incredibly, McKinley himself stopped the beating. Detective John Geary reached out and caught the president, who appeared on the verge of collapse. As Geary, Cortelyou, and Milburn escorted the stricken man over torn bunting and into a nearby chair, McKinley looked at the scene unfolding behind him. He supposedly said, “Don’t let them hurt him” or “Be easy with him, boys.” The words had their intended effect, and the officers stopped pummeling the now-subdued Czolgosz, who was bleeding from his eyes and nose. The group hustled him away to a nearby room for questioning.
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